# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RANDY LAMAR TAPPER

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NO. 2009-KA-0544-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Randy Lamar Tapper, Appellant
- 3. Honorable Anthony Lawrence, III, District Attorney
- 4. Honorable Robert P. Krebs, Circuit Court Judge

This the \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2009

Respectfully Submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

**ISSUE ONE:** 

# **ISSUE TWO:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO QUASH THE INDICTMENT FOR NOT ADEQUATELY INFORMING THE APPELLANT OF THE NATURE OF THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM.

# **ISSUE THREE:**

WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION FOR TOUCHING MERGES WITH HIS CONVICTION FOR SEXUAL BATTERY AND THEREFORE, VIOLATES HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

# STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Randy Tapper, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

# STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction on two (2) counts of sexual battery and five (5) counts of unlawful touching against Randy Tapper, following a trial on January 26-30, 2009, the honorable Robert P. Krebs, Circuit Judge, presiding. Tapper was subsequently sentenced to two life sentences, and five fifteen year sentences, all to run consecutively, in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

# **FACTS**

According to the testimony presented at trial, in the summer of 2006, Janice Crawford gave two of her children, L.P. and C.C<sup>1</sup>., permission to play at the house of Randy Tapper, the Appellant. (T. 268). Specifically, the two girls went to Tapper's house on August 18th, 2006. (T. 272). Tapper picked the girls up in his car. (T. 273). The girls came home on the 20th. (T. 273).

Crawford testified that she did not notice anything odd at first. (T. 274). When Crawford gave the girls a bath, however, she noticed redness on their vaginas. (T. 275). The girls also told Crawford "they were burning." (T. 275). Concerned, Crawford took the children to the emergency

<sup>1.</sup> To protect the identity of the girls, their names will not be used. At the time of the events in question, C.C. was six years old and L.P. was eight years old. (T. 266-67)

room. (T. 275).

Toby Nix, an emergency room nurse at Singing River Hospital testified to treating C.C. on August 20, 2006. (T. 359). Nurse Nix found erythema, another term for redness, in the girl's vaginal area. (T. 364-65). Specifically, Nurse Nix found redness in her labial folds and on her hymen. (T. 365). Nurse Nix also found a single pinworm in the hymenal area itself. (T. 366). Catherine Shaver, a registered nurse at Singing River Hospital testified to performing an examination on L.P. on August 20, 2006. (T. 387). During the course of the examination, Nurse Shaver noticed erythema in L.P.'s vagina. (T. 395).

Nicole Tapper, Randy Tapper's wife, testified that during the summer of 2006, L.P. and C.C. visited her home and would stay the night. (T. 309). When the two stayed the night, they would sleep with Randy Tapper. (T. 309). Nicole testified that on the night in question, when she would go into the room, Randy would be sleeping in between the two girls. (T. 311). At all times, the girls and Randy Tapper were clothed and the lights were on. (T. 317-318). Nicole testified that Randy Tapper had told her that one of the girls had fallen off the bed. (T. 311). Nicole testified that in 2004, S.F., another young girl, would stay the night. (T. 313). Nicole testified that during that time Randy Tapper did not sleep in the same room as the child. (T. 313). L.P. testified that when she would spent the night, they would slept in Randy Tapper's daughter's room. (T. 330). Only one time did the children sleep in Nicole Tapper's room. (T. 330).

L.P. testified that when she spent the night at Tapper's house, she was touched in what she called the "wrong spot," which she identified as being her vagina. (T. 332-33). L.P. indicated that Tapper touched her with both his hand and his penis. (T. 333-35). L.P. testified that Tapper also touched her leg. (T. 335). L.P. testified that when Tapper attempted to put his penis into her vagina, she screamed, which caused Nicole Tapper to come into the room. (T. 337). L.P. testified that

Randy Tapper told Nicole that she had fallen of the bed. (T. 337). L.P. testified that that was not the truth. (T. 337). When Randy Tapper left to go to the bathroom, L.P. went to the corner and cried. (T. 338).

L.P. further testified that over the course of the summer Tapper touched her "about five times" (T. 341). On those "about five" times, Tapper allegedly used his penis and touched her vaginal area. (T. 341).

C.C. testified that Tapper touched her with his penis. (T. 348). The majority of her testimony, however, indicated that she could not remember any of the relevant facts surrounding the incident. (T. 350-53).

Laura Greer, the former program coordinator for South Mississippi Child Advocacy Center, performed a forensic interview on L.P. and C.C. (T. 418). The jury was played a copy of the interview. (T. 432). Laura Greer offered no expert opinion on the veracity of the allegations of the girls.

The State then called S.F., over the objection of defense counsel. The State intended to call S.F. to testify as to a prior allegation of sexual abuse pursuant with this Court's recent holding in *Derouen v. State*, 994 So.2d 748 (Miss. 2008). S.F.'s testimony was objected to under Mississippi Rules of Evidence 401, 402, 403, and 404. (T. 435). The State argued that S.F.'s testimony was to go to plan, opportunity, motive, intent and preparation. (T. 435). Ultimately, the trial court allowed S.F. to testify. (T. 436).

S.F. testified that she and her sister would go to Randy Tapper's house when she was nine years old. (T. 440). S.F. testified that she spend the night at Tapper's and sleep in the bed with her sister, Tapper, and Tapper's daughter. (T. 441). S.F. testified that Tapper "always tried to take his private and put it in mine." (T. 441). S.F. further testified that Tapper told her that if she told

anyone, he would kill her. (T. 445).

Tapper took the stand in his own defense. (T. 455). Tapper testified that he was allowing the children to stay at his house because their family had been displaced by Hurricane Katrina. (T. 456-57). Tapper admitted to sleeping in the same room with the children twice, but only did so because the girls were scared. (T. 459).

Tapper denied sexual contact with the girls on the night in question as well as any contact with L.P. throughout the duration of the summer. (T. 460). Tapper testified that the reason the children were making allegations against him is because he "knew inappropriate things going on inside [their mother's] home" and that their mother was afraid that he would turn her in to the authorities. (T. 461). On cross-examination, Tapper testified that the girls' family was selling drugs out of their FEMA trailer. (T. 485-86). After Tapper's testimony, the defense rested.

The jury found Tapper guilty on all counts presented to them. (C.P. 275, R.E. 15). On March 6, 2009, Tapper filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative a New Trial. (C.P. 280-84, R.E. 17-21). On March 26, 2009, the motion was denied. (C.P. 288 R.E. 25). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, Woods filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 289, R.E. 25).

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court violated Tapper's fundamental right to a fair trial when it made improper rulings concerning the use of for cause strikes during voir dire. The State was granted a motion to strike juror number 23 for cause because he might possibly have been prejudiced against the State, even though that juror expressed that he could ultimately be fair. On the other hand, Tapper was not allowed to strike for cause three jurors who displayed a complete disregard for fundamental rights.

Whether intentional or not, this result substantially and unfairly favored the State. The process by which this jury was selected was fundamentally unfair, prejudiced the appellant, and violated his Constitutional right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury.

Secondly, the trial Court erred in not quashing the indictment. Count IV, V, VI, and VII all contained identical language that provide no notice to Tapper of what the allegations against him were. Moreover, the date range in the counts spanned nearly three months. Exacerbating the problem, the State presented no evidence at trial to deduce when in this three month span the alleged events took place. The indictment rendered Tapper incapable of presenting defenses other than denial, and therefore prejudiced him and warrants reversal.

Thirdly, under Mississippi Law, touching is a lesser included offense of sexual battery with penetration. Tapper was convicted of <u>both</u> touching<sup>2</sup> and sexual battery with digital penetration of the anus. This Court has held that it is <u>impossible</u> to commit sexual battery with penetration without committing touching; therefore, these two crimes merge for the purposes of Double Jeopardy clause of the United States Constitution. Because Tapper's rights under the Double Jeopardy clause have been violated, his conviction for touching should be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY BY FAILING TO EXCUSE JURORS FOR CAUSE

# i. Standard of Review

The Mississippi Constitution guarantees every person the right to trial by an impartial jury.

<sup>2.</sup> The terms "touching," "fondling," and "molestation" are all used as a reference for a violation of **Mississippi Code Annotated 97-5-23.** For the purpose of consistence, unless quoting, the Appellant will solely refer to the act as "touching."

Miss. Const. Art. 3, § 26. Generally a juror who may be removed on a challenge for cause is one against whom a cause for challenge exists that would likely effect his competency or his impartiality at trial. *Billot v. State*, 454 So. 2d 445, 457 (Miss. 1984). The determination of whether a juror is fair or impartial is a judicial question, and it will not be set aside except where there is a finding that the determination clearly appears to be wrong. *West v. State*, 820 So. 2d 668, 671 (Miss. 2001) (citing *Carr v. State*, 555 So. 2d 59, 60 (Miss. 1989)).

# ii. The trial court erred in refusing to strike juror's 6, 9 and 31.

No one can dispute the fact that everyone is entitled to a trial by a fair and impartial jury. This right is unequivocally protected by the Mississippi Constitution. The right to trial by a fair and impartial jury implicitly includes the right to a fundamentally fair selection process. It is that right which was violated in the case sub judice, when the trial court brushed aside potential jurors unmistakably incorrect views on fundamental rights. These views, clearly expressed, precluded these prospective jurors from being fair and impartial. Thus, these jurors should have been excused for cause and it was error for the trial court to refuse to do so.

During voir dire, several jurors declared that the appellant should have to prove his innocence in clear contradiction to the appellants fundamental right not to testify. Specifically, juror number 6 said the appellant should be, "required to prove his innocence." (T. 231). Juror number 9 stated, "I think everybody is – they should – I mean, if they was charged with something, they should try to prove that they are innocent." *Id.* Juror number 31 stated;

"A. He would need to present his evidence. It wouldn't be fair just left all on the state. He would need evidence from him as well.

Q. Okay. I'm sorry. Just to be clear, what you're saying is that you think Mr. Tapper would have to present evidence in order to be found not guilty of these offenses?

A. Right."

(T. 236-237).

These three jurors believed that the burden should lie on the appellant rather than the State, even going so far as to say it would not be fair to require the State to shoulder the burden. These inherently incorrect views cannot be ignored as they are completely inapposite to our justice system. In spite of these views, the trial court refused to strike them for cause because they were expressing "opinions" and because they said they would follow the law. (T. 245-246). Statements by a prospective juror that he or she will be fair and follow the law are entitled to considerable deference. *Scott v. Ball*, 595 So. 2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992) (see also *Lester v. State*, 692 So. 2d 755 (Miss. 1997) ( overruled on other grounds by, *Weatherspoon v. State*, 732 So. 2d 158 (Miss. 1998)). Even so, considerable deference does not command absolute adherence, especially where the prospective juror explicitly states beliefs so substantially unfair and prejudicial to the appellant.

The trial court's ruling seems to imply that a prospective juror who either does not believe in or accept the fundamental rights afforded defendants by the Constitution is not foreclosed from being fair and impartial, so long as they say they are. Under such reasoning, irrespective of the fact that a person harbors the opinion that the Constitution does not apply, that person can listen to the evidence and come to a fair and impartial decision. This is a non sequitur. You cannot be fair and impartial if you believe or hold the "opinion" that a person must testify or prove his innocence. To hold otherwise, is the equivalent of saying a prospective juror who openly states he has already formed an opinion as to the defendant's guilt can somehow listen to the evidence and remain fair and impartial.

The law is crystal clear. A defendant has the right not to testify and shall not be required to prove his innocence. When a juror emphatically disregards the law and fundamental rights of the defendant, how can he be fair and impartial? The answer is simple, he cannot.

In the case at bar, defense counsel moved to strike these jurors for cause based on their stated belief that the appellant should have to prove his innocence. These views would likely have effected their competence and impartiality at trial, regardless of whether they said they could be fair. The trial court clearly appears to have been wrong in its determination that these jurors could be fair and impartial. Therefore, the trial court erred in refusing to strike them for cause.

The appellant was then forced to exhaust his peremptory challenges in order to remove them from the panel. The appellant understands that a prerequisite for establishing a claim of a denial of constitutional rights due to denial of a challenge for cause is not only a showing that the defendant had exhausted all of his peremptory challenges, but, also that the incompetent juror was forced to sit on the jury. *Chisholm v. State*, 529 So. 2d 635, 639 (Miss. 1988). However, the Appellant respectfully submits that damage is done regardless of whether the incompetent jurors end up sitting on the jury. The Appellant was forced to use peremptory challenges on those who lawfully should have been struck for cause. A rule which is not enforced is no rule at all. *Box v. State*, 437 So. 2d 19, 21 (Miss. 1983). Therefore, the Appellant respectfully submits that this Court enforce the rule and find the trial court's failure to strike three incompetent jurors for cause error.

# ii. The trial court erred in striking juror number 23 for cause.

The State moved to strike juror number 23 for cause because his brother had been prosecuted by the same office and tried by the same judge. (T. 242). Defense counsel objected to the strike for cause because juror number 23 responded "yes" to the question of whether he could be fair and impartial regardless of his brother's prior conviction. The State reacted by saying, "[w]hen he came back the second time, Your Honor, it was still eating him." *Id.* The trial court, in clear contradistinction to how it treated defense counsel's motions to strike, summarily ordered he be struck for cause. *Id.* It is unclear as to why juror number 23 was struck for cause after he stated he

could be fair and impartial, while juror numbers 6, 9, and 31 were not after the same response to the same question.

The disparate treatment by the trial court of defense counsel's motions as compared to the State's motion cannot be reconciled. Juror number 23 merely stated he thought his brother was innocent and his trial unfair, but despite that, he could be fair and impartial in this case after listening to the facts and law. (T. 188). Nevertheless, the trial court granted the strike for cause. When defense counsel moved to strike jurors whose stated beliefs would hold the appellant to an *unconstitutional burden*, the trial court found them to be fair and impartial because those beliefs were opinions. Juror number 23's opinion that his brother's trial was unfair somehow precluded him from being fair and impartial, whereas juror numbers 6, 9, and 31's opinion that the appellant should have to prove his innocence had no bearing on their impartiality. Such disparate treatment suggests the stage was set for conviction before the trial even began.

The Appellant submits that such inherently unfair and disparate treatment should not go unnoticed and that such treatment constitutes egregious error.

#### iii. Conclusion

The State was granted a motion to strike juror number 23 for cause because he might possibly have been prejudiced against the State. On the other hand, the appellant was not allowed to strike for cause three jurors who displayed an absolute disregard for his fundamental rights. Whether intentional or not, this result substantially and unfairly favored the State. The process by which this jury was selected was fundamentally unfair, prejudiced the appellant, and violated his Constitutional right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury. The appellant respectfully submits that this constitutes error.

ISSUE TWO: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO

# QUASH THE INDICTMENT FOR NOT ADEQUATELY INFORMING THE APPELLANT OF THE NATURE OF THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM.

# i. Standard of Review

Claims of defective indictment are questions of law afforded a broad standard of *de novo* review. *Jones v. State*, 993 So. 2d 386, 394 (Miss. 2008)(citing *Nguyen v. State*, 761 So. 2d 873, 874 (Miss. 2000) and *Peterson v. State*, 671 So. 2d 647, 652 (Miss. 1996)(superceded by statute)).

#### ii. The indictment in the instant case was void.

From the onset of the proceedings, defense counsel argued that Counts IV, V, VI, and VII did not adequately inform Tapper of the allegations against him. Prior to trial, Tapper filed a Demurrer/Motion to Quash alleging the indictment to be defective. (C.P. 166-167, R.E. 22-24). Tapper also argued this motion in pre-trial hearings. (R.E. 118). The motion was denied by the trial court. (T. 124, 126-127). All four counts alleged the following:

in Jackson County, Mississippi, on or between June 1, 2006 and August 19, 2006, being at the time in question over the age of eighteen (18) years, for the purpose of gratifying his lust, or indulging his depraved licentious sexual desires, did unlawfully, willfully and feloniously handle, touch, or rub with his hand, or any part of his body, or any member thereof, the vagina of [L.P.], a child who was at the time in question under the age of sixteen (16) years, contrary to the form of the statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

(C.P. 9, R.E. 13).