IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RANDY LAMAR TAPPER

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO. 2009-KA-0544

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

.

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR N

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AS TO CERTAIN VENIREMEN

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO QUASH THE INDICTMENT

3. THAT THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION TOUCHING DID NOT MERGE WITH HIS CONVICTION OF SEXUAL BATTERY

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AS TO CERTAIN VENIREMEN

In the First Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in refusing

to grant his challenges for cause as to veniremen 6, 9 and 31. He further assigns error on the part

of the trial court in grant a challenge for cause as to venireman number 23.

Venireman 6

This person, one Vaughn, stated that his wife worked with a Tamara Mimms, who

worked with the Jackson County sheriff's department. He stated, though, that that fact would

not influence him. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 204 - 205). He also knew one Ronnie Porter, who was also

employed at the sheriff's department. He stated that the fact that he knew Porter would not influence him. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 207). Further on in *voir dire*, in response to questions put by the defense to the venire, Vaughn gave it for his opinion that the Appellant was required to prove his innocence. However, he also indicated, by failing to state otherwise, that he understood that everyone charged with a crime is presumed to be innocent. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 231)

Venireman 9

Venireman 9 indicated that a person should try to prove his innocence if charged with a crime. He also indicated that he understood there was a presumption of innocence in favor of a person charged with a crime. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 231)

Venireman 31

This person expressed the view that the Appellant would need to present evidence on his behalf, that it would not be fair to him if he did not. This person stated: "He would need to present his evidence. It wouldn't be fair just left all on the State. He would need evidence from him, as well." (R. Vol. 5, pg. 236).

It will be noted that the defense did not ask these individuals whether they could put their notions about what the defense should have to prove aside and be guided by the instructions given by the trial court. However, the defense did ask the veniremen whether they understood that it was the State's burden to establish the Appellant's guilt. No one indicated that he did not understand or agree with that precept. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 236). The State put no questions to the venire at the conclusion of the defense *voir dire*.

The defense moved to strike veniremen 6, 9 and 31 for cause. The prosecutor responded that, in the case of venireman 6, that person repeatedly stated that he would follow the court's instructions. The prosecutor further pointed out that the defense failed to enquire of the

venireman whether his belief would influence him, regardless of the court's instructions. The court refused to grant the challenge for cause.

As for venireman 9, the court stated that all that happened with respect to 6 and 9 was that they expressed their opinion. On the other hand, they consistently stated that they could be fair and impartial jurors and could follow the instructions given by the court. The court refused the challenge for cause as to venireman 9.

As for venireman 31, the prosecutor opined that that venireman only meant that the Appellant ought to have the opportunity to put on whatever evidence he had. The defense, not surprisingly, did not agree with that assessment. The trial court refused the challenge for cause. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 245 - 247).

It appears that the defense exercised peremptory challenges as to veniremen 6 (D-2), 9 (D-4), and 31 (D-10). The defense and the State each had twelve peremptory challenges; the defense used all of its challenges. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 248 - 249).

A trial court enjoys wide discretion in determining whether a challenge for cause ought to be granted or denied. *Lattimer v. State*, 952 So.2d 206, 214 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In order to support a challenge for cause, there must be a clear showing that the venireman's views would substantially impair the performance of his duties. A clear showing requires more than a single response to an initial enquiry. A juror's views do not of themselves constitute a ground for a challenge. *McDonald v. State*, 921 So.2d 353, 357 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

It is hardly necessary to concede that, to the extent that these veniremen intended to be understood to say that an accused has obligation to introduce evidence in his behalf, any such understanding of the law or expectation personal to themselves was a mistaken notion. But the question is not really so much as whether they had such an understanding or expectation as much as it is whether the record demonstrates their willingness to set aside their personal views and be capable and willing to follow the instructions of the court. As pointed out by the prosecutor at trial, no attempt was made by the defense to determine whether these views on the part of these veniremen were so firmly entrenched that they would not or could not set them aside and follow the instructions of the court.

On the other hand, the record is clear that the venire was informed that the State of Mississippi bore the burden of establishing the Appellant's guilt. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 199; 236). The venire was asked whether it could follow the instructions of law given by the court. No one indicated that he would be unable to do so. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 212). All of the veniremen indicated that they understood and agreed that an accused is presumed innocent until proven guilty. None of them thought that an accused could have a fair trial if some members of his jury presumed guilt before trial began. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 231). The jury was instructed that the State of Mississippi bore the burden of establishing the Appellant's guilt. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 208).

In any event, the Appellant did testify. There is no indication that his decision to testify was made because the defense thought the jurors would hold it against the Appellant if he did not testify. The fact that the Appellant testified ought make the issue insignificant: regardless of what these veniremen thought, the fact that the Appellant testified obviated any cause for concern. Had the Appellant not testified, then it seems to us that the issue would be of greater importance.

Since it was never shown that these three jurors could not set aside their notions of whether an accused should testify, this Court should not find an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in refusing the challenges for cause as to them. As the Appellant acknowledges, the veniremen stated that they could follow the law. Such statements are accorded considerable

deference, citing Scott v. Ball, 595 So.2d 848 (Miss. 1992). (Brief for the Appellant, at 8).

The Appellant, though, would have this Court avoid this result. He posits that it is impossible for a venireman to hold views that are contrary to well established constitutional law and at the same time assert that he will be fair and impartial, and apply the law as given by the trial court. This is a highly speculative position, however. Perhaps the Appellant is correct in some cases, cases in which the prospective juror makes it plain that he will not relinquish his views regardless of what the court instructs. This sort of thing is most commonly seen in death penalty cases, cases in which a prospective juror makes it plain that he will not vote to impose a death penalty regardless of the evidence and the law.

But this is not the case here. These jurors, according to the trial court, were expressing opinions at most, not positions. The trial court heard these jurors, observed their demeanor, and was in the best position to determine those persons' meaning. There were no follow - up questions put to these people by the defense, yet they agreed with the proposition that it was the State's burden to establish guilt, not the accused's burden to establish innocence. The record in the case at bar does not demonstrate that these three would not and did not follow the instructions of the court. In order to support a challenge for cause, made on the basis of a venireman's opinions, there must be a clear showing that the venireman's opinions would substantially impair the performance of his duties. *McDonald, supra*. That showing was not made in the case at bar. The trial court thus did not abuse its discretion in denying the challenges for cause at to these three.

In the event, however, that this Court should view the matter differently, there is nonetheless no basis to reverse this case. As the Appellant recognizes, there is "a prerequisite for establishing a claim of a denial of constitutional rights due to a denial of a challenge for cause" in

that an appellant must show not only that the challenge or challenges for cause were denied and that he exhausted his peremptory challenges but that also an incompetent venireman was forced to be seated on the jury, citing *Chisholm v. State*, 529 So.2d 635 (Miss. 1988). (Brief for the Appellant, at 9). In the case at bar, the Appellant did in fact exercise three peremptory challenges against these three veniremen. He has not alleged, and there is nothing to show, that an incompetent juror was forced to sit on the jury on account of the exercise of his peremptory challenges on these three veniremen. This being so, as *Chisholm* demonstrates, the Appellant is in no position to complain of the trial court's action with respect to the challenges for cause as to these three veniremen. *Mettetal v. State*, 615 So.2d 600, 603 (Miss. 1993).

The Appellant rather coyly suggests that the Court should ignore the rule in *Chisholm*. There is no cause to do, and the Appellant advances no reason to do so. Beyond that, though, the Appellant overlooks the fact that cases are not to be reversed on account of said - to - be errors unless error was in fact committed and, equally important, that the error was prejudicial to the accused. *Nicholson ex rel Gollott v. State*, 672 So.2d 744 (Miss. 1996). Since the three veniremen the Appellant claimed to be unfit to serve on the jury did not serve, and since there is no showing that the Appellant was unable to remove some other unfit juror on account of having been put to using three peremptory challenges to remove the three that the trial court refused to remove on cause grounds, there is simply no prejudice to the Appellant.

Venireman 23

Venireman 23, one James Larson, stated that the prosecutor at trial had prosecuted his brother. Larson believed his brother innocent of the charge against him, which he thought was a charge of sexual battery, and further believed that his brother's trial was unfair. He also believed that the sentence his brother received was unfair. Nonetheless, Larson told the court that he believed that he could be fair and impartial and abide by the instructions of the court and render a fair and impartial decision, if chosen to sit as a juror. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 187 - 188; 220 - 221). The State, noting that the charge against Larson's brother was actually for fondling, challenged Larson for cause. As grounds, the prosecutor noted that the brother's conviction "was still eating at him." The prosecutor also pointed out that the judge in the case at bar also tried Larson's brother. The defense objected, noting that Larson indicated that he could be fair and impartial. The court granted the State's challenge for cause. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 242).

The Appellant asserts sauce - for - the -goose, sauce - for - the - gander argument, asserting that, if the trial court granted the State's challenge as to Larson, it should have granted the defense challenges to veniremen 6, 9 and 31. The Appellant, though, presents no authority for this proposition.

We think there was a clear distinction between the challenge as to Larson and the challenges to veniremen 6, 9 and 31. Larson made it clear that he felt that his brother was not guilty of the charge against him and felt that his brother's trial and sentence had been unfair. The judge of the trial court who tried Larson's brother was the same who presided in the case at bar. By his comments, it was a more than fair conclusion to be reached that Larson had a specific and personal animus against the prosecution, and quite likely the judge as well. The complaint about the lack of a fair trial and sentence was a complaint about the judge; the fact that Larson thought his brother innocent was a complaint about the prosecution.

Veniremen 6, 9 and 31 did not express such sentiments. They were speaking generally about their opinions, opinions which were in no way specific to the case at bar and which in no way disclosed an animus toward the court or the prosecutor, or even the defense, for that matter. These veniremen indicated that they could follow the instructions of the court, notwithstanding

their notions.

There was a substantial distinction between the State's challenge as to Larson and the Appellant's challenge as to 6, 9, and 31. Nonetheless, the Appellant may not be heard to complain of the trial court's granting of the State's challenge for cause. Miss. Code Ann. Section 13-5-79 (Rev. 2002)(Exclusion of a juror found by a trial court to be incapable of trying the case impartially shall not be assignable as error on appeal). The Appellant had no right to have a particular person sit on his jury, only the right to a fair and impartial jury. *Coverson v. State*, 617 So.2d 642, 645 - 646 (Miss. 1993). It has not been asserted or shown that the challenge as to Larson deprived the Appellant of a fair and impartial jury.

The Appellant may not be heard to complain of Larson's exclusion. Even so, there was a clear distinction between the reasons for the challenge against Larson and the challenge against veniremen 6, 9, and 31. The trial court did not engage in unfair and disparate treatment with respect to these challenges.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO QUASH THE INDICTMENT

In the Second Assignment of Error, the Appellant asserts that the indictment, with respect to the dates alleged on which the Appellant committed his felonies, was too vague and that such vagueness compromised his ability to present a defense. The Appellant suggests that perhaps an alibi defense would have been available, but he does not state what periods or period of time would have been perhaps amenable to an alibi defense.

Counts four through seven of the indictment alleged that the Appellant committed the felony of touching a child for lustful purposes between 1 June 2006 through 19 August 2006. (

R. Vol. 1, pg. 9). The time period embraced by these four counts was about three months.

The Appellant filed a motion to quash the indictment, which alleged that the time frame alleged was insufficient to allow for an effective defense. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 166 - 168). A hearing was held on this motion, in which the Appellant, citing *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), asserted the allegations of the motion. It was said that the counts of the indictment were nearly identical and failed to provide the Appellant "necessary information."

The State responded, stating that the dates alleged had been made as narrow as possible. The reason counts four through seven alleged a June through August time frame was because the victim alleged in those counts, L.P., stated that the Appellant's acts occurred over the summer. A more specific time could not be ascertained. The prosecutor further pointed out that there was no way to avoid using the same language in each of those counts. The Appellant was alleged to have committed acts of fondling throughout the summer. Each act constituting a separate crime, there was no other way to charge them. The trial court denied relief on the Appellant's motion. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 118 - 126).

Specific dates in a child sexual abuse case are not required to be alleged in an indictment so long as the accused is fully and fairly informed of the charge against him. *Eakes vs. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 860 (Miss. 1995). Specific dates should be alleged if at all possible, but the failure to do so does not work a fatal defect in an indictment. *Price v. State*, 898 So.2d 641, 654 - 655 (Miss. 2005).

In the case at bar, the counts of the indictment clearly and sufficiently informed the Appellant of what felonies he was charged with having committed. Some of the counts, courts one through three, gave specific dates in August of 2006. But the other counts were not as specific because the victim could not give a more specific date. Clearly, though, the State

alleged the dates of commission as specifically as it could. In child sexual abuse cases, it is hardly uncommon that the victims will be unable to recall and testify to specific dates, as this Court has recognized. *Morris v. State*, 595 So.2d 840 (Miss. 1991).

The Appellant suggests that maybe he might have had an alibi defense had more specific dates been alleged. Yet, neither in the trial court nor here does he give flesh to that suggestion. The mere suggestion that maybe there might have been an alibi defense is not sufficient to demonstrate that the defense was compromised by the lack of specific dates. *Gordon v. State*, 977 So.2d 420, 431 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The Appellant, of course, relies heavily upon *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). That decision, though, involved two victims, twenty - two incidents, alleged to have occurred over a three - year period. It is true that the Court of Appeals found error in the trial court's handling of the issue, but it is critical to focus on why error was found. The Court of Appeals pointed out that the State was in possession of information which would have considerably shortened the time - frame alleged in the indictment as well as other information that would have specifically identified the incidents that the counts were based upon. *Moses*, at 572.

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